2008

# Michael A. Bacon v. The State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

THIS APPELLATE COURT HAS JURISDICTION, BELIEVED  
U.C.A. 78-29-3 AND 71-18a-1

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

DEFENDANT CAUSED TO BE FILED A MOTION TO VACATE  
SENTENCE PURSUANT TO VT. R. C. P. RULE 22(e) JULY 27, 2001  
(RECORD INDEX 43-50) BASED UPON FAILURE OF LOWER COURT  
TO HEAR TIMELY FILED MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND  
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT THEREOF (RECORD INDEX 24-29)  
THIS ISSUE WAS PRESERVED IN TRIAL COURT (OTHER # INDEX  
FOR 5 CASES APPLY ALSO SEE 97-104, 235-242, 454-461,  
664-671)

## STATEMENT OF CASE

DEFENDANT FILED A TIMELY MOTION TO SUPPRESS REQUESTED BY  
THE TRIAL JUDGE FOR DEFENDANT TO FILE IT. THE MOTION WAS  
NEVER HEARD BEFORE ENTRY OF PLEA NOR DID DEFENDANT'S  
COUNSEL REQUEST IT TO BE HEARD. THUS DEFENDANT THEN  
FILED A MOTION TO VACATE THE SENTENCE AS HARMFUL  
ERROR, INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND THE  
COURT NOT HAVING LEGAL ADEQUATE FACTUAL BASIS  
TO ACCEPT THE PLEA AND PLEA NOT KNOWINGLY NOR  
VOLUNTARILY ENTERED ESPECIALLY WHEN NO DISCOVERY  
WAS DISCLOSED.

## STATEMENT OF FACT

- 1) ON MAY 1, 2007, JUDGE DAVID L. MOWER TOLD THE DEFENDANT TO FILE A MOTION TO SUPPRESS FOR DEFENDANT TRIED TO MOVE FOR VERBAL SUPPRESSION. HOWEVER THE JUDGE TOLD DEFENDANT TO PLACE IT IN WRITING.
- 2) THE DEFENDANT FILED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE COURT ORDERED, RATIFIED, HELP AUTHOR ON OR ABOUT MAY 10, 2007
- 3) THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS NEVER HEARD BEFORE ENTRY OF PLEA
- 4) DEFENDANTS ATTORNEY NEVER MOVED FOR MOTION TO BE HEARD

## PLEADINGS TO BE CONSTRUED LIBERALLY

DUE TO LIMITED ABILITY AND ACCESS TO ADEQUATE RESOURCES TO PROPERLY LITIGATE THE ISSUES CONTAINED HEREIN, THE APPELLANT REQUEST THIS HONORABLE COURT TO WAIVE FILING REQUIREMENTS A PRO SE LITIGANTS PLEADINGS ARE TO BE CONSTRUED LIBERALLY AND HELD TO A LESS STRINGENT STANDARD THAN FORMAL PLEADINGS DRAFTED BY LAWYERS. HALL V. BELLMON, 935 F.2d 1106, 1110 (10TH CIR. 1991)

## ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT FAILED TO ENTER A FINDING OF FACTS AND CONCLUSION OF LAW PURSUANT TO UT. R. C. P. RULE 12 WHICH IS A HARMFUL ERROR UNDER UT. R. C. P. RULE 30

SEE STATE V. RAMIREZ, 817 P.2d 774 (UTAH 1991) id at 788-89  
REGARDLESS IF RAMIREZ DEALS WITH TRIAL BY JURY,  
CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES STILL APPLY U.S.C. 4<sup>TH</sup> AMENDMENT  
AND UT. CONST. ART 1 §14, A MOTION TO SUPPRESS IS A  
PIVOTAL MOTION ON LEGAL EVIDENCE THAT DESERVES THE COURTS  
ATTENTION TO RESOLVE CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES AFFECTING THE  
SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT. TRIAL BY JURY OR ENTRY  
OF PLEA DOES NOT LOSE ITS LEGAL BASIS NOR CRITICAL VITAL  
NATURE FOR THE MOTION TO BE HEARD. IT IS A TIMELY  
OBJECTION AND ALL OBJECTIONS MUST BE REVIEWED  
PURSUANT TO UT. R. CR.P. RULE 12(E) AND ENTRY UPON THE  
RECORD. NO ENTRY WAS MADE. THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS  
WAS PENDING AND PRESERVES THE RIGHT TO RAISE ISSUE  
AT APPELLATE LEVEL STATE V. MATSAMAS, 1991, 808 P.2d 1048  
TRIAL COURT MUST SPECIFY ITS FINDINGS ON RECORD  
WHEN RESOLUTION OF FACTUAL ISSUES IS NECESSARY TO  
DISPOSITION OF MOTION. FAILURE TO MAKE FACTUAL FINDINGS  
REQUIRES REMAND FOR ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT CONCLUSION  
OF LAW. STATE V. GENOVESE, 1994, 871 P.2d 547.

HOWEVER, "TO ASK THE TRIAL COURT TO ADDRESS THE  
ADMISSIBILITY QUESTION NOW WOULD BE TO TEMPT IT TO  
REACH A POST HAC RATIONALIZATION FOR THE ADMISSION  
OF THIS PIVOTAL EVIDENCE. SUCH A MODE OF PROCEEDING  
HOLDS TOO MUCH POTENTIAL FOR ABUSE. THE ONLY FAIR  
WAY TO PROCEED IS TO VACATE DEFENDANTS CONVICTION  
AND REMAND THE MATTER FOR RETRIAL" RAMIREZ SUPRA  
24 799

IT NEEDS TO BE UNDERSTOOD THAT THE MOTION TO  
SUPPRESS IS NOT WAIVED BY ENTRY OF A GUILTY PLEA  
BECAUSE THE MOTION WAS REQUESTED BY THE TRIAL  
JUDGE AND ENTERED BEFORE ARRAIGNMENT. THE CRITICAL  
POINT IS THE LOWER COURT TOLD THE DEFENDANT TO FILE  
THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE OF THE ORAL ARGUMENT  
A BRIEFING THAT TOOK PLACE WHICH THE COURT ALLOWED.



PURSUANT TO U.T.R. C.P. RULE 12(F) THE LOWER COURT SET THE TIME FOR THE MOTION TO BE ~~RAISED~~ RAISED AND HEARD WHEN IT ACCEPTED ORAL ARGUMENT MAY 1, 2007 THEN REQUESTED IT PLACED IN WRITING. THUS U.T.R. C.P. RULE 10 (C) MERELY REAFFIRMS THE GENERAL RULE THAT ALL OBJECTIONS BE MADE BEFORE A GUILTY PLEA IS ENTERED OR THE OBJECTION IS WAIVED. STATE V HUMPHREY, 794 P.2D 496 (UT CT APP. 1990) REVERSED ON OTHER GROUNDS 823 P.2D 464 (UT 1991). A MOTION TO SUPPRESS IS AN OBJECTION UNDER RULE 12 AND IS PRESERVED FOR THE APPELLATE COURT TO REVIEW.

"AS A GENERAL RULE, IN ORDER FOR AN APPELLATE COURT TO REVIEW CONTENTIONS OF ERROR ON APPEAL, THE ERRORS MUST BE OBJECTED TO OR BE PRESERVED IN TRIAL COURT RECORD" STATE V HONIE, 2002, UT 4, 15 P.3D 977, "FOR [2] [d]efendant TO HAVE PRESERVED HIS SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE CLAIM HE MUST HAVE RAISED IT BY PROPER MOTION OR OBJECTION IN THE COURT BELOW."

STATE V MARQUEZ, 2002, UT APP. 127, 7, 54 P.3D 637

THERE ARE EXCEPTIONS TO THESE RULES "[T]HE PRESERVATION RULE APPLIES TO EVERY CLAIM... UNLESS A DEFENDANT CAN DEMONSTRATE THAT 'EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES' EXIST OR 'PLAIN ERROR' OCCURRED." STATE V. HOLGATE, 2000, UT. 74, 11, 10 P.3D 346

LET'S BACK TRACK FOR A SECOND OBJECTION TO EVIDENCE WAS MADE VERBALLY AT A BAIL HEARING, AT FIRST APPEARANCE IN CASE NO. 071600133 MAY 1, 2007. BUT MOTION WAS FILED UNDER CASE NO. 071600015 BECAUSE THAT IS WHERE THE EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM WHICH ENCOMPASSED ALL 5 CASES. WITHOUT THE EVIDENCE PROSECUTION WOULD HAVE NO CASE. (5 CASES 071600015, 071600016, 071600022, 071600012, 071600133)

THE MOTION IS PRESERVED NOT ONLY BECAUSE IT WAS MADE BEFORE ASSIGNMENT PURSUANT TO 10 (C) HUMPHREY 794 P.2d 496, BUT ALSO BY THE JUDGE REQUESTING IT, HAVING ORAL ARGUMENT, SETTING THE TIME UNDER RULE 12 (F) AND NOT HEARD OR ENTERED UPON THE RECORD OF FACT CONCLUSION OF LAW UNDER RULE 12, 30 AND RAMIREZ SUPRA, MASTMASES SUPRA, GENDRESI SUPRA.

THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION COMMITTING PLAIN ERROR RESULTING IN HARMFUL ERROR. IT WAS THE COURTS RESPONSIBILITY TO HEAR THE MOTION IT REQUESTED. A GUILTY PLEA DOES NOT WAIVE HARMFUL ERROR, ABUSE OF DISCRETION, PLAIN ERROR DOCTRINES OR STRUCTURAL ERROR SULLIVAN V. LOUISIANA, 508 U.S. 275 (1993). A CONVICTION OBTAINED BY CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR MUST BE SET ASIDE. CHAPMAN V. CALIFORNIA, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS IS STILL PENDING UNDER STATE V. LOWELL, 2005 UT. 23, AND WAS NOT DISPOSED OF BY NECESSARY IMPLICATION SO IT IS PLAIN ERROR AND ABUSE OF DISCRETION. AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION OCCURS WHEN THE ACTION OF THE JUDGE WERE INHERENTLY UNFAIR. STATE V. RHODES, 818 P.2d 1048 (UT. APP. 1991); STATE V. GERRARD, 584 P.2d 885 (UT. 1978). AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION ON PART OF JUDGE AUTOMATIC REVERSAL APPLIES U.S. V. JURN, 400 U.S. 470, 486 (1971). BY THE COURT NOT RULING UPON A MOTION IT REQUESTED, HEARD ORAL ARGUMENT AND SET THE TIME BY STATUTE ALL THE ABOVE APPLIES.

THE U.S. SUPREME COURT STATED ERROR IS CLEAR OR OBVIOUS. U.S. V. OLAND, 507 U.S. 725, 733-34 (1993) ANOTHER EXAMPLE ABSENT THE ERROR THERE IS A REASONABLE LIKELIHOOD OF A MORE FAVORABLE OUTCOME. STATE V. DUNN, 850 P.2d 1201, 1208-09 (UT. 1993).

THE ERROR IN THIS INSTANT MATTER EXISTS WAS OBVIOUS, PLAIN AND HARMFUL AND A DIFFERENT OUTCOME WOULD OF BEEN REACHED IF MOTION HEARD.

THE FAILURE TO RULE UPON THE MOTION INTENTIONALLY  
ELIMINATED A CONSTITUTIONAL BASIS FOR THE PLEA. THE MOTION  
HAD DIRECT RELEVANCE IN PREVENTING THE COURT FROM FINDING  
A LEGALLY ADEQUATE FACTUAL BASIS FOR THE PLEA UNDER UT. R.  
C. P. RULE 11(b)(4)(B) BECAUSE IT UNDERMINED THE COURTS  
ABILITY TO ESTABLISH THAT THE CHARGED CRIME WAS ACTUALLY  
COMMITTED OR BY CONSTITUTIONAL MEANS OR IF THERE WAS  
SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH A SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF  
CONVICTION, THIS HAD DIRECT AFFECT ON THE LEGALITY OF  
SENTENCING IN 2 WAYS, FIRST, IT DENIED THE DEFENDANT DUE  
PROCESS RIGHT TO BE SENTENCED ON LEGALLY RELEVANT AND  
ACCURATE INFORMATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES AFFECTING  
SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS OF DEFENDANT. BECAUSE THE SEIZED EVIDENCE  
WAS THE CENTRAL FOCUS OF THE STATE CASE, IT MADE THE  
SENTENCE ILLEGAL BECAUSE THE PROCESS OR STRUCTURAL ERROR  
(STRUCTURAL ERROR DEFIES HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS SULLIVAN  
V. LOUISIANA SUPRA) (AND MAKING DEFENDANT PLEAD BEFORE  
DISCLOSURE OF ANY DISCOVERY SEE RULE 16(b) STATES THAT  
DISCLOSURE MUST BE MADE BEFORE DEFENDANT SHALL PLEAD),

FLAWED THE WHOLE FACT FINDING PROCESS TO WHERE  
GETTING TO THE SENTENCING STAGE DID NOT PROVIDE A LEGAL  
REASON OR BASIS TO BE SENTENCED, THE PLEA DID NOT MOST  
THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE HE OBJECTED TO THE  
ISSUE IN A TIMELY MANNER. STATE V. HUMPHREY, 2003, UT.  
APP 333, 19 P.3d 960; ALSO STATE V. MARSHALL, 791 P.2d  
880 (UT. APP) CERT DENIED 800 P.2d 1705 (1990), IN  
WHICH IS WHAT A MOTION TO SUPPRESS IS UNDER RULE 12  
AN OBJECTION.

IT WAS CRITICAL THAT THE COURT MADE AN EXPLICIT  
RULING UPON THE MOTION BEFORE REQUIRING DEFENDANT TO  
PLEAD. FAILURE TO DO SO MADE SENTENCE ILLEGAL IN  
CONSTITUTIONAL SENSE. CANNOT PLEAD WHILE A CONSTITUTIONAL  
MOTION IS PENDING. THE LOWER COURT NEVER TOLD

DEFENDANT THAT HE WOULD BE WAIVING A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT IN REGARD TO A 4<sup>TH</sup> AMENDMENT AND ART 1 SEC 14 RIGHT TO HAVE HIS PENDING MOTION TO SUPPRESS HEARD ESPECIALLY WHEN THE TRIAL COURT REQUESTED MOTION AND HEARD ORAL ARGUMENT. THE DEFENDANT HAD A RIGHT TO HAVE HIS MOTION HEARD AND DIRECT IMPLICATION TO THE MOTION NEEDED TO BE ADDRESSED AS ONE OF HIS RIGHTS HE WAS WAIVING. THE DUTY TO ENSURE THAT DEFENDANT KNOWS AND UNDERSTANDS WHAT RIGHTS THEY ARE SURRENDERING WHEN PLEADING GUILTY RESTS NOT ON THE PARTIES, BUT ON THE TRIAL COURT. STATE V. CORWELL, 2003, 74 P.3d 1171. Cert granted 2005 UT.28. RULE GOVERNING PLEAS SQUARELY PLACES ON TRIAL COURTS THE BURDEN OF ENSURING THAT CONSTITUTIONAL AND RULE REQUIREMENTS ARE COMPLIED WITH WHEN A GUILTY PLEA IS ENTERED. STATE V. MORA, 2003, 69 P.3d 838. ALSO SEE STATE V. MILLS, 1995, 898 P.2d 819.

BY IMPLICATION THE PLEA WAS NOT A KNOWING NOR VOLUNTARY PLEA WITH RELATIONS OF LAW TO FACTS MILLS SUPRA AND IF A DEFENDANT IS NOT FULLY INFORMED OF HIS OR HER RIGHTS CONCERNING THE MAKING OF A PLEA PRIOR TO PLEADING GUILTY THEN THE PLEA CANNOT BE VOLUNTARY. CORWELL SUPRA ALSO SEE STATE V. VALENCIA 1989, 776 P.2d 1332 AND STATE V. GIBBONS, 1987, 740 P.2d 1309.

A MOTION THAT CONTAINS FACTUAL BASIS OF CONSTITUTION NATURE NEEDS TO BE HEARD PRIOR TO ENTRY OF A PLEA WHEN IT IS PENDING AND ORAL ARGUMENT TOOK PLACE.

COURT OF APPEALS WILL PRESUME HARM WHEN A TRIAL COURT FAILS TO INFORM A DEFENDANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER RULE GOVERNING PLEAS;

COURT OF APPEALS PRESUMES HARM BECAUSE BY NOT KNOWING WHICH RIGHTS A DEFENDANT IS WAIVING, THE DEFENDANT CANNOT MAKE A FULLY INFORMED DECISION. STATE V. MORA, 69 P.3D 838, 2003 UT. APP. 117

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT STRICTLY COMPLIED WITH RULE GOVERNING PLEAS IS A QUESTION OF LAW, WHICH COURT OF APPEALS REVIEWS FOR CORRECTNESS. STATE V. CORWELL, 2003, 74 P.3D 1171, CERT ~~GRANTED~~ 2005 UT. 28

PLAIN ERROR EXISTED IN THIS MATTER AND UNDER THE PLAIN ERROR STANDARD OF REVIEW, COURT OF APPEALS MAY EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO REVERSE 1) ERROR, 2) THAT IS PLAIN, 3) THAT AFFECTS SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS, AND 4) THAT SERIOUSLY AFFECTS THE FAIRNESS, INTEGRITY, OR PUBLIC REPUTATION OF JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS. U.S. V. BUONOCORE, 2005, 416 F.3D 1124.

DEFENDANT DID NOT MAKE AN INFORMED KNOWINGLY VOLUNTARY PLEA. THE TRIAL COURT SIGNIFICANTLY DEPARTED FROM CONSTITUTIONAL AND PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS CREATING DOUBT AS TO KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY NATURE OF DEFENDANTS PLEA. STATE V. STILLING, 1993, 853 P.2D 666

IT HAS BEEN STATED THAT THE APPELLATE COURT WILL PRESUME HARM WHEN A TRIAL COURT FAILS TO INFORM A DEFENDANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER RULE GOVERNING PLEAS, BECAUSE BY NOT KNOWING WHICH RIGHTS DEFENDANT IS WAIVING DEFENDANT CANNOT MAKE A FULLY INFORMED DECISION. BLUMEL V. STATE, 2006, 134 P.3D 181, 2007 UT. 90

LASTLY BY NO MEANS CAN A DEFENDANTS COUNSEL BE EFFECTIVE WHEN COUNSEL NOT ONLY DID NOT GET NOR REQUESTED DISCOVERY BEFORE HE MADE HIS CLIENT TO PLEAD GUILTY, VIOLATION OF RULE 16(b), PLEA NOT KNOWING NOR VOLUNTARY IN RELATION TO FACT

DISCOVERY IS NEEDED TO MAKE A KNOWING PLEA, BUT ALSO  
BUT NOT MORE IMPORTANTLY INSURING THAT THE MOTION TO  
SUPPRESS IS HEARD. KIMMELMAN V. MORRISON, 477 U.S. 365  
(1986). DISCOVERY IS NEEDED FOR PROPER INVESTIGATIVE  
PURPOSES. IF NOT FOR THE DEFICIENCIES THERE IS A MORE  
LIKELIHOOD OF A DIFFERENT OUTCOME, NO WAY BY HIS  
ACTIONS COULD THERE HAVE BEEN A JUST RESULT. STATE V.  
HALES, 2007, UT. 14. IT IS DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL'S  
RESPONSIBILITY TO REQUEST RULINGS ON PENDING MOTIONS  
TO SUPPRESS AND FAILURE TO DO SO IS INEFFECTIVE.  
ANDCOX V. O'BRIEN, 899 F.2d 735 (8<sup>TH</sup> CT. 1990).

#### CONCLUSION

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT RELIEF AND REQUEST THE CD  
OF THE HEARING OF MAY 1, 2007 SHOWING THE JUDGE REQUESTED  
MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND MAY 15, 2007 PLEA HEARING.  
REMAND FOR TRIAL, WITHDRAWAL OF PLEA, MOTION TO  
SUPPRESS TO BE HEARD.