2008

Michael A. Bacon v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant challenges the legality of his sentences pursuant to rule 22(e), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. He advances several arguments to establish that the lower court's failure to rule on a suppression motion filed by defendant *pro se* the day before he entered his five unconditional guilty pleas, and his trial counsel's failure to insist on a pre-plea ruling or to conduct pre-plea discovery rendered the pleas invalid and his sentences illegal.

Defendant's arguments collaterally challenge his pleas and the resulting conviction and are, therefore, not cognizable under rule 22(e). Further, this Court

is without jurisdiction to reach the plea challenges or his pre-plea claims where defendant entered unconditional pleas and failed to timely move to withdraw them. Hence, the lower court properly denied defendant's rule 22(e) motion.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S RULE 22(E) MOTION WHERE HIS CLAIMS ARE NOT COGNIZABLE UNDER THE RULE AND WERE WAIVED BY ENTRY OF HIS UNCONDITIONAL GUILTY PLEAS

Defendant appeals the lower court's denial of his rule 22(e) motion. He claimed below that his sentences were illegal because: (1) the trial court did not rule on the suppression motion before accepting his five guilty pleas; and (2) his counsel rendered ineffective assistance in the handling of the pleas because he failed to conduct discovery or to insist on issuance of a suppression ruling prior to entry of the pleas. *See* R43-50, 97-104, 235-42, 454-61, 664-71.

The trial court denied the motion on two bases. First, the court summarily noted that "Defendant's sentence has not been illegal or imposed in an illegal manner." Add. A. Second, the court rejected defendant's claim that the absence of a ruling on his pre-trial motion to suppress rendered his sentences illegal. *See id.* Instead, the court determined that defendant's guilty pleas "waived all pre-plea constitutional violations." *Id.* (citing *State v. Parsons*, 781 P.2d 1275, 1278

(Utah 1989)). The court then noted that defendant pled guilty knowing that the motion had been filed, “but he chose not to pursue it.” *Id.*

Defendant repeats his arguments on appeal. Although he presents them in the guise of a motion filed pursuant to rule 22(e), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, he ultimately seeks withdrawal of his pleas. *See* Apl’t. Br. at 3, 9. His claims depend upon the absence of a ruling on his pre-plea suppression motion and the absence of pre-plea discovery, both of which he argues rendered his guilty pleas unknowing and involuntary in various ways and prevented entry of sentences based on accurate and relevant information. *See id.* at 2-9.

This Court should reject defendant’s arguments and affirm the lower court’s decision because the arguments are not properly raised under rule 22(e) where they represent a collateral challenge to his guilty pleas and involve only pre-plea nonjurisdictional claims which were waived by entry of defendant’s unconditional guilty pleas.

Rule 22(e) provides that “[t]he court may correct an illegal sentence, or a sentence imposed in an illegal manner, at any time.” Utah R. Crim. P. 22(e). This rule allows correction of sentences that are patently or manifestly illegal. *See State v. Candedo*, 2008 UT App 4, ¶ 6, 176 P.3d 459; *State v. Thorkelson*, 2004 UT App 9, ¶ 15, 84 P.3d 854. A “patently” or “manifestly” illegal sentence is once in

which either: (1) “the sentencing court has no jurisdiction[;]” or (2) “the sentence is beyond the authorized statutory range.” *Thorkelson*, 2004 UT App 9, ¶15; *see also Candedo*, 2008 UT App 4, ¶ 6.

“A request to correct an illegal sentence under rule 22(e) presupposes a valid conviction.” *State v. Brooks*, 908 P.2d 856, 860 (Utah 1995). Accordingly, “rule 22(e) does not allow a court to review a claim of an illegal sentence when the substance of the claim is a challenge to the underlying conviction.” *Id.* at 860-61; *see also State v. Nicholls*, 2006 UT 76, ¶ 5, 148 P.3d 990. Additionally, the rule does not permit review when the “conviction” derives from a guilty plea which defendant attempts to withdraw using rule 22(e). *See Nicholls*, 2006 UT 76, ¶ 5; *State v. Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 3, 40 P.3d 630.

In this case, the substance of defendant’s rule 22(e) sentencing challenge is actually a collateral challenge to his guilty pleas and the convictions resulting therefrom. Defendant claims that his sentences are illegal because: (1) they were rendered, in part, on evidence which should have been suppressed pursuant to his pre-plea suppression motion; and (2) they are based on pleas rendered invalid because “a constitutional motion [wa]s pending” when the pleas were entered. *See* Aplt. Br. at 6, 7. He also faults his counsel for the state of affairs that supposedly rendered his sentences illegal because counsel failed to insist on

a pre-plea suppression ruling and failed to conduct pre-plea discovery. *See id.* at 9. He presents no other challenge to his sentences and does not request re-sentencing. Therefore, his is not a proper rule 22(e) claim and was correctly rejected by the trial court. *See Nicholls*, 2006 UT 76, ¶ 5.

Furthermore, defendant's claims are all waived by entry of his guilty pleas. "[A] voluntary guilty plea is a waiver of the right to appeal all nonjurisdictional issues, including pre-plea constitutional violations." *State v. Jennings*, 875 P.2d 566, 567 n.1 (Utah App. 1994), *distinguished on other gnds by State v. Bujan*, 2006 UT App 832, 142 P.3d 581; *State v. Smith*, 833 P.2d 371, 372 (Utah App. 1992) (waiver of review of the denial of a suppression motion); *accord Parsons*, 781 P.2d at 1278. After entering an unconditional plea, a defendant may only appeal the voluntary and intelligent nature of the plea. *See Parsons*, 781 P.2d at 1277-78. To do so, however, he must present his issue in a timely-filed motion to withdraw the plea. *See Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6* (West 2004); *see also State v. Grimmett*, 2007 UT 11, ¶25, 152 P.3d 306; *State v. Briggs*, 2006 UT App 448, ¶ 6, 147 P.3d 969. Absent a timely motion to withdraw a guilty plea, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to review the plea, "even on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel." *Briggs*, 2006 UT App 448, ¶ 6.

In this case, defendant must either have expressly preserved his pre-plea nonjurisdictional claims by entry of conditional pleas, or he must have timely move to withdraw his pleas. *See* Utah R. Crim. P. 11(j); *see also* *Grimmett*, 2007 UT 11, ¶ 25 (rejecting challenge to entry of guilty pleas absent a timely motion to withdraw the pleas); *State v. Sery*, 758 P.2d 935, 938 (Utah App. 1988) (allowing review of rulings on pre-plea motions to suppress when they are preserved in a conditional plea, agreed to by both parties, and approved by the trial court). He did neither in this case. The day after defendant filed his motion to suppress, he appeared in court, entered five unconditional guilty pleas, and waived the time for sentencing. *See* Statement of Procedural History, ¶¶ 1-4, *supra*. Thereafter, he failed to file a timely motion to withdraw his pleas. *See* *State v. Bacon*, 2008 UT App 73U (unpublished memorandum decision) (at R773-75). As a consequence, his pre-plea challenges did not survive entry of his pleas and do not provide a basis upon which to challenge his statutorily-appropriate sentences. *See, e.g., Jennings*, 875 P.2d at 567, n.1.

Moreover, defendant's inaction leaves this Court without jurisdiction to review his challenges to the absence of a ruling on his suppression motion, its impact on either his pleas or his sentencing, the sufficiency of the plea colloquy, or the effectiveness of his counsel's performance as it relates to entry of the pleas.

See Grimmer, 2007 UT 11, ¶¶ 25-27 (rejecting attack on validity of pleas absent a timely motion to withdraw them); *Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 3; *Briggs*, 2006 UT App 448, ¶ 6 (expressly rejecting ineffective assistance claims absent a timely motion to withdraw the plea); *Jennings*, 875 P.2d at 567 n.1 (an unconditional plea waives all nonjurisdictional issues, including pre-plea constitutional violations); *Smith*, 833 P.2d at 372 (involving motion to suppress); *Sery*, 758 P.2d at 939. The only available challenge to the validity of defendant's pleas is through the Post-Conviction Remedies Act and rule 65C, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6(2)(c); *see also Nicholls*, 2006 UT 76, ¶ 6.

Defendant argues that the suppression motion survived entry of his guilty pleas and remains pending before the trial court because the trial court "request[ed]" it, and because it was preserved in the same manner as a pre-arraignment defect under rule 10(c), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure, and as a pre-trial motion, request, defense, or objection under rule 12(e) and (f), Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. *See* Aplt. Br. at 2-5. His arguments fail because this is a matter of jurisdiction, not preservation, and this Court may not review an issue over which it has no jurisdiction. *See Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 4.

Defendant's attempts to shoehorn his claims into rule 22(e) are unpersuasive, ineffectual, and unsupported. He makes no mention of any

jurisdictional defect in sentencing and provides no other challenge to the legality of his sentences independent of his guilty pleas. *See* Aplt. Br. *passim*.

Because defendant's sentencing challenge represents a collateral attack on his guilty pleas, his claims are not reviewable under rule 22(e). *See Brooks*, 908 P.2d at 860. Where defendant filed unconditional guilty pleas and failed to timely move to withdraw his pleas, this Court is without jurisdiction to review the pleas or the pre-plea claims. *See Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 3. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower court's denial of defendant's rule 22(e) motion.⁹